
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 



ongress had a dream. In 
1965, it established the 
GuardJltced Student J..oan 
Program. The goal, said 

President Lyndon Johnson, was •to 
provide acce..<;S to every srudent who 
wants to better himself through 
higher education. w 

The program encouraged lending 
institutions to offer students low­
interest loans regardless of their eco­
nomic status. The Government told 
lenders it would subsidize the low 
interest rates and pay off the Joans ii 
students defaulted. As a result, stu­
dent loans, once unappealing to 
lenders, suddenly became a risk-free, 
money-making proposition. 

Since 1965, the Government has 
backed more than 50 million of these 
loans, worth more than $100.billion. 
1be program has helped student" 
pay their way through all types of 
educ.:i.tional institutions, from four­
year colleges to trade schools. 

But it has also lost more than $13-
billion to defaults. In December 1989, 
a Senate subcommittee began a year· 
long investigation to detennine how 
the student-loan dream became a tax­
payer's nightmare. Its conclusion: 
'Wnile many students who could 
have paid their debts didn't, the loan 
program also spawned an array of 
fraudulent schools that prey on 
unwary youths. 

Orchards of bad apples 
Aspiring chefs at the Culinary 

School of Washington borrowed as 
much as $8000 to hone their slicing 
and dicing skills, without pay, in the 
cafeteria of a sewage-treatment plant 

A Texas woman cashed in on her 
truck-driving dreams at the financial­
aid office of a local trade school. Five 
thousand dollars down the road, she 
learned that she was ineligible for a 
state license because she had only 
ooefoot 

A California man told The Los 
Angeles Times that he borrowed 
$5500 to enroll in an auto-repair 
course he had seen advertised. The 
first day of class he discovered that 

'" j the school had no garage, no tools, 
·3 and no cars. In a classroom across i town, recent immigrants were spend­
]; ing their loan dollars learning the 
~ fine points of English grammar by 
if' watching--0ver and over again­J rented videos of Hollywood hits. 
o.. ! Featured film: La Bamba. 
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OR 
Just a few had-apple schools? 

"Orchards.~ says Elizabeth Tmholz, 
consumer-law coordinator at l.egal 
Services for New York City. a law 
office for low-income New Yorker.>. 
"'The system itself is so fundamen· 
tally rotten that it simply does not, 
and perhaps cannot, keep up with 
uncovering all the bad actors.~ In the 
past four years, lmholz's organization 
has received thousands of calls from 
students who claim they· were hood· 
winked by schools that promised 
high-paying jobs. provided little or no 
training, and pocketed thousands of 
dollars in student loans. 

In Harlem, consumer activist 
Florence Rice has seen the problem 
grow as the ranks of the unemployed 
have swelled. "People still have hope 
and think things are going to happen 
if they get some education. But I 
don't see these schools trying to edu· 
cate anybody. They just collect 
money.ft 

Across the country, in the housing 
projects of Watts, California Con· 
gresswoman Maxine Waters sees 
her constituents falling victim by the 
hour. "Thousands of men and 
women who think they are going to 
change their lives by going back to 
school are being ripped off daily." 

While students who enroll at these 
schools often receive no 
training, they do receive 
.bills from collection agen- · 
cies if they fail to pay back· 
their loans promptly. In . 
many cases, students say .. 
they were not aware that 
the papers they signed 
were for Joans. 

George Leeson had fin- ·· 
ished several months of a 
law-enforcement course at · 
Northeastern Business 
College of Charleston, W. 
Va, when he realized that 

. the $3000 he had received 
through the school's finan­
cial-aid office was not a 
grant but a loan. Like mil­
lions of other student bor­
rowers, he had never set 
foot in a bank to arrange 
his student Joan. The 
school handled the paper­
work; LeesQn merely 
answered some questions 
and signed on a line. The 
loan checks went directly 
to the school. 

.. .. ---·· ··--. ~ . ··-----.. -----------"'" ..... 

DAL 
At midyear. Leeson found the 

school doors padlocked, leaving him 
$3000 in the hole. with no certificate 
in sight. Today, he faces the fate of 
all student-loan defaulters: credit 
problems and possible IRS liens on 
future tax refunds. He is also ineligi· 
ble for further funding Uu-ough the 
Federal loan program-effectively 
barred from the trdining he needs to 
repay the debt. 

Hard knocks, high profits 
For-profit trade schools account 

for a disproportionate number of 
problems in the loan program. While 
trade-school students comprise 
roughly 22 percent of all student-loan 
borrowers, they account for about 40 
percent of defaulters and more than 
70 percent of all default dollars. 

Stephen Blair, president of the 
Career College Association, a trade 
group that represents vocational 
schools. contends that the numbers 
say more about the students than the 
institutions they attend. "When a 
school serves low-income, minority 
students, the default rate will be 
higher." he says. · . . . 

. . Imholz, . of New York Legal 
Services, calls that arlrum.ent "insult· 
ing ·stereotyping. The fact is that 
trade-school borrowers default dis-

Abuses by 
some trade 
schools havE 
put the U.S. 
student~loan 

program in 
jeopardy. 

: ; .. , 

- • f ·"'"' 

M.After three weeks o 
basic math, I realized thE 
school had no GED pro­
gram. They kept tetling 
me the GED teacher 

· would be there any day. 
After six weeks and no 
teacher, I asked the 
school director to cancel 
my loan with the bank. H 
promised to take care of 
it, but a few months later 
s1arted to get bills from a 
collection agency. I told 
them I didn't get training 
and don't have the mone 
because it went directly t 
the school. They told me 

,. to borrow it from some­
one else. I want to go to 
college. I want to teach. 
But my credit is ruined. I 
can't do anything." 
- Tracey Pinkard, age 
23, who borrowed $250C 
for a GED course and 
bank-teller training. 



--:..0...:ia&...-;.:;.J.-~.ac;a.Olll :' \::.; <:::.~)-Y:::'; . 
proportionately because these · ' 
schools don't give them the 
training they need to get jobs." 

l 
No one disputes that major ., .~ . 

growth in the for-profit trade- ';<· 

- -------- school sector during the 1980s 
.......,"""" .... &&~--' I was accompanied by skyrocket-

Got a pulse? Get ! ing default costs. Jn the late 
an 18-wheeler 1970s anrl early 1980s, the loan 

" My approach was progrciIIl was amended to allow 
that If [a prospect] students without a high-school 

could breathe, diploma or General Equivalency 
scribble his name, Diploma (GED) to borrow 

had a driver's money. as long as they demon-
llcense, and was strated an "ability to benefit." 
over 18 years of That judgment was l~ft to each 

age, he was l school, an appetizing ambiguity 
qualified." · for profiteers more eager to fill 
-A former 

recruiter tor a their pockets than to educate 
truck-driving students. 

school Some schools began to 

• • > t· 

' ..... ..... · 

"I had a good Job ntak· 
ing dental models, but my 
boss told me that I needad 
more training to move up 
in my career. I enrolled in 
an 11-month course in 
dental ceramics. There 
were a lot of problems with 
the teachers-we never 
knew who was going to 
show up. Then one day, 
about eight months into 
the program, the school 
was just closed, bankrupt. 
I never got a degree and 
have no way to prove that I 
went to the school at alt 
But I owe $5000." 
-Abraham Rodriguez, age 
28, who borrowed $5000 
for a program in dental 
technology. recruit the poor aggressively, 

handing out fliers in welfare 
offices, unemployment lines, ... , ........... :c. .. l • . ..... . ... 'II""""'"'., .. ,~ 
and housing projects. When 
t11ree million illegal aliens qualified 
for amnesty and SSOOO apiece in stu­
dent aid in 1988, the same schools 
pounced on them with translated 
fliers. Elena Ackel of the Los Angeles 
Legal Aid Foundation has seen the 
effect on hundreds of Spanish-speak­
ing immigrants in her area "Ifs dev­
astating for them and their families. 
They're the poorest of the poor, tl\e 

"The newspaper ad said, 
'Students come first!' First to 

be ripped off. I spent eight 
months in front of a type­

writer, never touched a com­
puter. I was so disgusted, I 

stopped going to class. The 
school owner has since 

pleaded guilty to mishandling 
funds, but the Government 

says I s1ill owe the loan.8 

-Patn'cia Banolo (standing), 
age 32, who borrowed $2500 
for a word-processing course. 

"They got me when I 
was vulnerable-walking out 
of the unemployment office. 
The man told me his school 

would teach me word pro­
cessing and find me a job. 
Two weeks after I signed 
over my loan check, the 

sohool closed. I didn't get an 
education. but the bank 

doesn't care. We're not grad­
uates. we're suckers." 

-Jean Barry-Van Cooten 
(seated), age 34, who 
borrowed $1250 for a 

word-processing course. 

easiest to rip off, and the least able 
to withstand iC 

Tuitions at the schools often rose . 
in lockstep with the maximum 
Federal aid allowed to borrowers. 
!:Jome schools began stretching 
courses to meet the minimum 
course hours required to collect 
Federal loan money. A 1989 report 
by the Texas Guaranteed Student 

Loan Cof}X>ration con­
trasted the training 
offered by Texas com­
munity colleges with 
that available through 
the state's trade 

· schools. One example: 
Houston Community 
College offered a two­
week course for aspir­
ing private investiga­
tors. For $70, the 
school provided 40 
hours of instruction­
all students needed to 
obtain a state license. 
Some trade schools of- · 
fered a similar course 
with 300 hours of . 
instruction, the mini­
mum required for stu­
dents to receive Fed­
eral loans. Tuition at 
the . trade schools 
ranged from $2000 to 
$4000. 

A Federal study 
found that students at 
for-profit trade schools 
may pay as much as 38 
times the tuition 
charged by other insti­
tutions for the same 

•. ·- · 11 ..... - ...... _ . - .. -- ... · ~ · -·~--- · ... ·-------------

training. Today some of those 
schools draw as much as 98 percent 
of their revenues from Federal funds. 

Not surprisingly, many trade 
schools seem to place a higher value 
on students' recruitment than on 
their enlightenment School recruit­
ers may receive as much as $550 for 
every student they bring in. At the 
American Career Training Corp. of 
Pompano Beach, Fla., sales repre­
. sentatives and loan officers won ·cash 
prizes and color 1V sets fur signing 
up the most students. No such con­
test for outstanding teachers or job­
placement officers. In 1988, the 
school employed 109 commissioned 
recruiters and 70 financial-aid offi­
cers, but just 23 instructors. Total 
salaries for the teachers: $468,079. 
Total advertising expenditures: $11-
million. In the four years that the 
school participated in the Federal 
k>an program. its two owners report­
edly took home more than $12·mil­
lion in salaries and benefits. '." .r 

Interface, a Manhattan-based 
public-policy research group, re­
ported that New York City trade 
schools spent a total of$50-nnllion in 
1988 to create and fund bogus 
employment agencies. When people 
responded to the supposed employ­
ment agencies' ads, agency officials 
informed them they lacked the nec­
essary skills and referred them to 
nearby trade schools for training. 

Oversight, anyone? 
Before an institution can partici­

pate in the Guaranteed Student Loan 
Program, it must be licensed by the 
state, certified by a private accredit-
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ing agency. and !liven a final nod by 
the ll. S. Department of Education. 
How could S<l many be so 'Wrong? 

Through "gross mismanagemenL. 
ineptitude. and neglect," concluded 
the Senate subcommittee, pointing 
fingers in every direction. lt rested 
ultimate blame with the U.S. Depart­
ment of Education, which it said had 
"all but abdicated its responsibility" 
and was unable to produce even a 
complete Ust of schools participating 
in the program. The department said 
the files had been misplaced. 
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Education Department officials cite 
"inadequate legislative authority," 
staff shortages, and budget cuts as 
sources of th~ir problems. Ilut they 
pass much of the blame lo lenders, 
who've showered cash on question· 
able schools, and to accredilors, 
who've given those schools cre<lcn· 
tials. The department charges that 
accrediting agencies, which arc 
funded primarily by the dues that 
member schools pay, have little 
incentive to reject applicants or 
police those already approved. The 

ac~reditorf.' inspection teams gener­
ally announce visits beforehand and 
have been !mown to allow school offi­
cials to select files for review. 

Accrediting agencies, meanwhile. 
blame their failings on inadequate 
resources and a lack of expertise in 
detecting fraud at tl1e schools they 
visit As one fonner agency official 
told the Senate panel: "The 
[schools'] charades go beyond what 
I think is anticipated or expected by 
a reasonably knowledgeable visiting 
team." She told of schools that had 
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What every 
family 
should know 

hin!d actors to pose as students and 
fabricated dozens of student files to 
establish a list of "graduates." In one 
instancr., school officials led an 
unknowing inspection team to· the 
wrong location. Small wonder: The 
intended site of the inspection. a 
nursing-assistant school. consisted of 
little more than two rooms, one desk. 
and a bed~onnected to an X-rated 
record store run by the school 
owner's son. 

And what of the state licensing 
agencies? Poor funding, a lack of uni­
fonn standards, and weak enforct!­
ment authority have all but broken 
this first link in the regulatory chain. 
Left to set their own licensing 
requirements, some states ask for lit· 
Ue more than a nominal fee and a 
filled-out fonn. Even within a single 
state. licensing responsibility can be 
too fragmented, and agencies too 
understaffed, to be effective. In 
Geor~ria, for instance, as many as 45 
st.ate agencies regulate the various 
trade schools. In F1orida, the Senate 
found, one · part-time attorney had 
overseen licensing actions involving 
more than 500 schools. 

Every regulatory body involved 
acknowledges that the program's 
rules, designed with traditional, non­
profit institutions in mind, have 
proved grossly inadequate in gov­
erning profit-driven, and often scru­
ple-free, trade schools. One simple 
loophole has allowed millions of dol­
lars in abuse: Though institutions 
must operate for two years before 
they can participate in the student-· 
loan program, new' branches of pre­
viously qualified schools gain auto­
matic approval. No one blinked when 
a barber school in Amarillo, Tex., 
opened a branch in Houston to teach 
masonry-then rounded up home­
less people from the streets of Dallas 
and New Orleans as students. Llke 
hundreds of branch campuses that 
sprouted in the 1980s, the American 
Masonry School of Houston eventu­
ally collapsed, but not before collect- . 
ing vast sums of student-loan money_ 
As for the students: huge debts and 
no education in return. 

Even when fraud has been 
detected, reains of red tape and poor 
communication through the regula· 
tory ranks have allowed the abuse to 
continue unchecked. The Depart­
ment of Education first detected 
problems with the Culinary School of 
Washington (ak.a. the sewage-plant · 
cafeteria) in 1983, just months after 
the school had been approved for 
participation in the Federal loan pro­
gram. In 1986, the Veterans 

Administration, which runs its own I 
student-aid program, force<! the 
school to withdraw from that pro­
gram. 'Though aware of the VA's 
action and of continuing abuse at the 
school, the Department. of Education 
allowed it to admit students and pro­
cess loans until District of Columbia 
licensing authorities finally forced it 
to close in 1990. 

Even in bankruptcy, a shady trade 
school can be a money-maker for its 
owners. An owner can file claims 
against a school's remaining assets 
for Mrcnt due," as the building's land· 
lord, and for "salary due," as an 
employee (usually president) of the 
bankrupt institution_ As one fonner 
trade-school owner summed it all up, 
the 19808 were "an opportune time to 
be crooked." 

Homework for Congreu 
Today, the future of the Guar­

ant.eed Student Loan Program is 
hanging in the balance. With its cred­
ibility eroded and with lawmakers 
eager to slash the deiicit, the pro­
gram faces the prospect of drastic 
reduction, if not extinction. lost amid 
the all-too-plentiful horror stories is 
the less dramatic fact that the loan 

. program has helped prepare many 
millions of students for a more pro­
ductive role in the U.S. work force. 

. : Congress and the Department of 

. Education have already taken some· 
steps to curtail the abuses. Schools 
with default rates over 30 percent are 

. no longer eligible to participate in the 
student-loan program. The Secretary 
of Education now has authority to 
shut off loan money inunediately to 
schools found responsible for major 
abuse. · . · . . . · · . .~ .. ·' : . , 
. But before the program can effec· 

lively serve the students it was 
intended to help, Congress must 
take tough steps to ensure that the 
Department ·of Education tighten 
licensing and accreditation standards 
for all schools. It must make certain 
that schools screen applicants ade- · 

.. quat.ely, establishing reasonable cut· 
off scores for standardized tests. 

Equally important, the Gov­
ernment must address the concerns 
of students who have already been 
victimLzed by fraudulent operations. 
When the . Higher Education Act 
goes to Congress for reauthorization 
later this year, lawmakers will con­
sider such reforms, including one 
that would cancel the loan obliga­
tions of thousands of students who 
saw their dreams and cash vanish as 
quickly as the schools they were 
attending. • 
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Robyn Smith (SBN 165446); rsmith@lafla.org 
Yolanda Arias (SBN 130025); yarias@lafla.org 
Josephine Lee (SBN 308439); jslee@lafla.org 
Andrew Kazakes (SBN 277912); akazakes@lafla.org 
LEGAL AID FOUNDATION OF LOS ANGELES 
5228 Whittier Boulevard       
Los Angeles, CA 90022 
Telephone: (213) 640-3908 
Facsimile:  (213) 640-3911 
 
Joanna Darcus; jdarcus@nclc.org* 
Charles Delbaum; cdelbaum@nclc.org* 
NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER 
7 Winthrop Square 
Boston, MA 02110 
Telephone:  (617) 542-8010 
Facsimile: (617) 542-8028 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Lizette Menendez, 
Lydia Luna, and Leonard Valdez 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

LIZETTE MENENDEZ,    )  Case No.:   
LYDIA LUNA, and LEONARD ) 
VALDEZ,     )  COMPLAINT FOR REVIEW OF 

Plaintiffs,  )  FINAL AGENCY ACTION AND  
 v.     )  FOR DECLARATORY AND 
      )  INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
BETSY DEVOS, in her official  )  
capacity as Secretary of the U.S. ) 
Department of Education, and U.S. )   
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, )   
      )   
   Defendants.  ) 
 
 
 
*Application for admission pro hac vice forthcoming.      
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 

701-706, and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, Plaintiffs 

Lizette Menendez, Lydia Luna, and Leonard Valdez (“Plaintiffs”) bring this 

lawsuit to challenge the unlawful denial of their applications for federal student 

loan discharges by the U.S. Department of Education and Secretary Betsy DeVos 

(“Defendants”).    

2. Plaintiffs also challenge, pursuant to the APA, Defendants’ unlawful 

delays of the effective date of an updated false certification discharge regulation 

which was intended to clarify loan discharge eligibility for student loan borrowers, 

including Plaintiffs, whose schools used fake high school diplomas to fraudulently 

certify their federal financial aid eligibility. 

3. Plaintiffs, all residents of Southern California, wanted to pursue 

higher education to improve their job prospects and earning potential. Their career 

options had previously been limited, in part, because they had not completed high 

school. 

4.   In 2013, upon visiting the for-profit Marinello Schools of Beauty 

(“Marinello”) to inquire about its programs, Marinello promised Plaintiffs they 

could earn a high school diploma from Parkridge Private School (“Parkridge”) and 

receive the career training necessary to work as cosmetologists.  

5. After a test was administered by Marinello, each Plaintiff received a 

high school diploma from Parkridge, then enrolled at a Marinello campus.  After 

Plaintiffs graduated, they discovered that the Marinello education was worthless 

because it did not teach basic skills that they needed for employment as 

cosmetologists. Nonetheless, Marinello took their money and left them with 

unaffordable student loan debt.   

6. Later, Plaintiffs learned that their high school diplomas were not 
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legitimate when, in February 2016, the U.S. Department of Education (the 

“Department”) determined that Marinello had partnered with Parkridge in an 

illegal scheme to heavily advertise high school diplomas that were in fact phony.  

7. Marinello targeted students who lacked high school diplomas and 

GEDs, pressured them into enrolling, then illegally certified their eligibility for 

federal student loans. Marinello created this program to fraudulently game federal 

law, under which students who lack high school diplomas or GEDs are ineligible 

for federal financial aid.   

8.  Based on these facts, the Department determined that Marinello had 

falsely certified the eligibility of students, like Plaintiffs, who had obtained 

Parkridge diplomas, but lacked high school diplomas or GEDs.  The Department 

also barred five Marinello campuses from continued participation in federal 

financial aid programs.  Marinello subsequently closed all of its campuses. 

9. Plaintiffs all applied for false certification discharge of their federal 

student loans based on a broad provision of the Higher Education Act (the “HEA”) 

which requires Defendants to discharge the loans of students whose schools falsely 

certify their eligibility for federal financial aid. 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c). Defendants 

ignored this provision and denied Plaintiffs’ applications, impermissibly relying on 

a narrow, outdated regulation, 34 C.F.R. § 684.215(a)(1), that directly conflicts 

with the broad statutory mandate of the HEA.  

10. As of November 1, 2016, Defendants had finally updated the false 

certification regulation after many years of schools’ increasing use of fake high 

school diplomas.  The updated regulation provided a clear pathway to relief for 

students harmed by fraudulent diploma practices, including Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs 

had planned on seeking the Department’s review of the initial denials of their 

applications after this updated regulation’s effective date of July 1, 2017.  

11. Unfortunately, the updated regulation has not taken effect.  
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Defendants delayed implementation twice, most recently until July 1, 2018.  

Defendants did so in order to allow themselves sufficient time to reconsider and 

amend or repeal the new regulations, including the updated false certification 

discharge regulation.  

12. Defendants enacted these delays without engaging in the public 

rulemaking procedures required by the APA and the HEA. Defendants’ failure to 

engage in these procedures violated the APA, as Defendants did not provide facts 

or a sufficient legal basis to justify their disregard of the public rulemaking 

procedures.   

13. Each Plaintiff is now unable to pay down his or her student loans.  If 

these delays are not invalidated by the court, Plaintiffs may never be eligible for a 

discharge of their student loans.  In addition, if Defendants enact a new regulation 

clarifying Plaintiffs’ eligibility for false certification discharges, the earliest the 

new regulation could go into effect is July 1, 2019.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 

the Administrative Procedure Act (the “APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

15. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1) 

because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this 

district and all Plaintiffs reside in this district. 

PARTIES 

16. Plaintiff LIZETTE MENENDEZ (hereinafter “Ms. Menendez”) resides, 

and at all relevant times has resided, in Los Angeles County, California.  She 

attended a campus of Marinello Schools of Beauty located in Los Angeles County, 

California. 

17. Plaintiff LYDIA LUNA (hereinafter “Ms. Luna”) resides, and at all 
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relevant times has resided, in San Bernardino County, California. She attended a 

campus of Marinello Schools of Beauty located in Los Angeles County, California. 

18. Plaintiff LEONARD VALDEZ (hereinafter, “Mr. Valdez”) resides, and 

at all relevant times has resided, in Orange County, California.  He attended a 

campus of Marinello Schools of Beauty located in Orange County, California.  

Collectively, all plaintiffs are referred to herein as “Plaintiffs.” 

19. Defendant BETSY DEVOS is the Secretary (hereinafter, the 

“Secretary”) of the United States Department of Education. Title IV of the Higher 

Education Act of 1965 (“HEA”), 20 U.S.C. §§ 1070-1099d, charges the Secretary 

with the responsibility of administering and overseeing the federal student loan 

programs, including the Direct Loan program. She is named as a defendant in her 

official capacity. 

20. Defendant U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (hereinafter, the 

“Department”) is an agency of the United States within the meaning of the APA.  It 

is responsible for administering and adopting regulations that implement Title IV of 

the HEA.  Collectively, both defendants are referred to herein as “Defendants.” 

BACKGROUND 

21. In general, students must have a high school diploma or a General 

Equivalency Diploma (GED) to be eligible for federal financial aid, including Direct 

Loans, under Title IV of the HEA.  20 U.S.C. § 1091(d).   

22. Schools are responsible for screening students to ensure that they meet 

the financial aid eligibility requirements.  Before a student can qualify for financial 

aid, the school must certify the student’s eligibility to the Department.  

23. In limited circumstances, students who do not have the requisite high 

school diploma or GED can qualify for financial aid.  Between January 1, 1986 and 

July 1, 2012, the HEA allowed a student who did not have a high school diploma or 

GED to receive financial aid if the student’s school determined that he or she 
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demonstrated an “ability to benefit” ("ATB") from the program the student sought to 

attend. See Pub. L. No. 99-498, sec. 407(a), § 484(d), 100 Stat. 1268, 1481 (1986) 

(codified at 20 U.S.C. § 1091(d)) and Pub. L. No. 112-74, Div. F, Title III, sec. 

309(c)(1), § 484(d), 125 Stat. 1100 (Dec. 23, 2011) (codified at 20 U.S.C. § 

1091(d)).  

24. A school could demonstrate that a student met the ATB eligibility 

alternative in a number of ways that varied over the years.  See 20 U.S.C. §§ 1091(d) 

(1986) and 1091(d) (2010); 34 C.F.R. § 682.402(e)(13)(ii). These included (1) 

administering an approved “ability-to-benefit” test that the student passed; or (2) 

having the student satisfactorily complete six credits of coursework applicable 

toward a credential. 34 C.F.R. § 682.402(e)(13)(ii). 

25. Schools found ways to exploit students and this narrow eligibility 

alternative.  Between 1989 and 1991, the U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on 

Investigations of the Committee on Governmental Affairs conducted an 

investigation that revealed a “national epidemic” of fraud by for-profit trade schools, 

including a “widespread” practice of fraudulently certifying students’ eligibility for 

federal financial aid. S. Rep. No. 102-58, 1st Sess. 37, 12 (1991).   

26. In response to this fraud, Congress amended the HEA in 1992 to 

provide that “the Secretary shall discharge [a] borrower’s liability on [his or her] 

loan” when the borrower’s "eligibility to borrow . . . was falsely certified by an 

eligible institution.” Higher Education Amendments of 1992, Pub. L. No. 102-325, 

sec. 428, § 437(c), 106 Stat. 448, 551 (1992) (codified as amended at 20 U.S.C. § 

1087(c)) (emph. added).   

27. This mandate applies to Direct Loans.  20 U.S.C. § 1087e(a)(1). 

28. Direct Loan regulations narrow false certification discharge eligibility 

to borrowers whose schools did one of the following: (a) falsified a non-high school 

graduate’s ability to benefit; (b) forged the borrower’s signature on loan documents; 
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(c) certified eligibility even though the borrower’s physical or mental condition, age, 

or criminal record disqualified the borrower from employment; or (d) certified 

eligibility as a result of identity theft.  34 C.F.R. § 685.215(a)(1). 

29. Federal regulations require a Direct Loan borrower seeking discharge 

on the basis of false certification to submit a written request to the Department, 

including a sworn factual statement. 34 C.F.R. § 685.215(c).  

30. If the Department determines that a Direct Loan borrower satisfies the 

requirements for a false certification discharge, it is required to (a) discharge the 

borrower’s obligation to pay existing or past loans falsely certified by the school, as 

well as any accrued charges and collection costs; (b) refund payments made by the 

borrower on the loans; and (c) report the discharge to all consumer reporting 

agencies so as to delete all adverse credit history regarding the loans.  20 U.S.C. § 

1087(c)(1); 34 C.F.R. § 685.215(b). 

31. There is no time limit on a Direct Loan borrower’s eligibility for 

discharge.  A borrower may submit an application at any time, including after a loan 

has been paid off. 34 C.F.R. § 215(b)(1). 

32. Congress removed the ATB alternative for financial aid eligibility from 

the HEA in 2011, effective starting July 1, 2012.  See Pub. L. No. 112-74, Div. F, 

Title III, sec. 309(c)(1), § 484(d), 125 Stat. 1100 (Dec. 23, 2011) (codified at 20 

U.S.C. § 1091(d)).  

33. Thus, beginning on July 1, 2012, students who did not have a high 

school diploma or GED could no longer qualify for federal financial aid through the 

ATB alternative.  20 U.S.C. § 1091(d) (2012).   

34. As of December 17, 2015, Congress reenacted the ATB alternative to 

the high school diploma eligibility requirement, but only for students enrolled in an 

“eligible career pathway” program.  See Pub. L. No. 113-235, Div. G, Title III, sec. 

309(a)(1), § 484(d), 128 Stat. 2504 (Dec. 16, 2014) (codified at 20 U.S.C. § 1091(d) 
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(2015)). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Marinello Schools of Beauty’s Use of Fake High School Diplomas 

35. Marinello Schools of Beauty (“Marinello”) was a private, for-profit 

cosmetology school that operated 56 schools throughout several states, including 39 

locations in California. 

36. On February 1, 2016, the Department denied applications from five 

Marinello campuses in California that sought approval for continued participation in 

the federal financial aid programs. 

37. The Department did so based on findings that Marinello fabricated high 

school diplomas so it could fraudulently receive Title IV funds on behalf of 

ineligible students who lacked high school diplomas or GEDs.  See, e.g., Letter from 

Susan D. Crim, Director, Administrative Actions and Appeals Service Group, U.S. 

Dep’t of Educ., to Dr. Rashed Elyas, CEO, Marinello Schools of Beauty (Feb. 1, 

2016). 

38. According to the Department, Marinello partnered with Parkridge 

Private School (“Parkridge”), located in Long Beach, California, in a “fraudulent 

scheme” to “fill the void in student enrollment left when the ATB alternative [for 

financial aid eligibility] was eliminated.”  Id. at 3, 5. 

39. Beginning at least on July 1, 2012, Marinello “heavily advertised” the 

high school completion program offered by Parkridge to students who lacked a high 

school diploma or GED.  Id. 

40. Marinello “pressured” and “pushed [these] students . . . to sign up for 

the Parkridge program” and represented that a Parkridge diploma was a valid high 

school diploma.  Id. 

41. After an extensive investigation, the Department determined that the 

Parkridge program did not provide Marinello students with a valid high school 
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diploma.  Id. at 6. The Department determined that Marinello’s scheme had “caused 

undue harm to its students” who had “trusted” Marinello and ended up with 

“worthless” high school diplomas.  Id. at 6-7.  Indeed, the Department 

acknowledged that these students are unable to continue their postsecondary 

education elsewhere because they still lack a legitimate high school diploma or 

GED.  Id. at 7. 

42. The Department therefore concluded that Marinello had falsely certified 

the federal financial aid eligibility of the students who had been provided with a 

Parkridge diploma and who otherwise lacked a high school diploma or GED before 

they enrolled.  Id. at 5.  

43. While the Department denied applications for recertification of federal 

financial aid eligibility for five of Marinello’s campuses, its findings regarding the 

invalidity of Parkridge high school diplomas at each campus should apply to all 

Marinello students whose eligibility was certified based on those diplomas.  There is 

no factual basis upon which to conclude that the Parkridge program provided valid 

high school diplomas to Marinello students from other campuses. 

44. The school closed all 56 of its campuses on or about February 5, 2016. 

45. Several months later, in August 2016, Marinello settled a False Claims 

Act lawsuit brought by six former employees of Marinello for $11 million in 

damages and attorneys’ fees. The suit was based on similar allegations that 

Marinello engaged in a broad scheme to procure fake high school diplomas from 

Parkridge to defraud the federal government of financial aid funds. 

Facts About Named Plaintiffs  

Plaintiff Lizette Menendez 

46. Lizette Menendez is currently 37 years old and is a lifetime resident of 

Los Angeles County. 

47. In February 2013, Ms. Menendez visited the Marinello campus in 
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Bell, California. There, she met with a Marinello employee, Christina, who guided 

her through the campus. 

48. Christina informed Ms. Menendez that she would need a high school 

diploma or its equivalent in order to enroll at Marinello. 

49. Ms. Menendez told her that she had not graduated from high school or 

earned a GED. 

50. Ms. Menendez had dropped out of Bell High School after completing 

10th grade. She stopped attending school after she became pregnant with her first 

child. 

51. Christina assured Ms. Menendez that she could still enroll because 

Marinello had a program, known as the Parkridge program, which would help Ms. 

Menendez obtain a high school diploma.  

52. Ms. Menendez paid $150 in cash to Marinello and paid $150 to 

Parkridge to participate in the Parkridge program. 

53. Ms. Menendez took the Parkridge test about one week later.  A few 

days after taking the Parkridge test, she received her Parkridge high school 

diploma in person at Marinello. 

54.  Ms. Menendez trusted Marinello’s representations that her Parkridge 

diploma was legitimate and that Marinello had administered the Parkridge program 

and test correctly.  She was proud of her achievement and shared her diploma with 

her family.  

55.  Soon after, in February 2013, Ms. Menendez enrolled in the 

cosmetology program at Marinello’s Bell campus. 

56. Marinello falsely certified Ms. Menendez’s federal financial aid 

eligibility based on the Parkridge program diploma.  Three Direct Loans totaling 

$9,931.00 were subsequently disbursed to Marinello on Ms. Menendez’s behalf.  

57.  During her program, a Marinello instructor demonstrated how to cut 
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hair on a female mannequin one time. Marinello did not provide Ms. Menendez 

and her class any other instruction on how to cut hair.  Instead, it advised them to 

practice cutting hair on their own without any further instruction or guidance.   

58. Marinello also failed to provide hair-related instruction in other areas 

commonly required of cosmetologists. For example, Marinello never taught Ms. 

Menendez how to mix coloring for hair or the complete process for how to perm 

hair. 

59. During the manicure portion of the cosmetology program, Marinello 

asked Ms. Menendez to instruct the class because she had some prior experience in 

nails. Ms. Menendez was shocked that, as a student, she was asked to instruct the 

other students in her class. 

60. Ms. Menendez completed her program on or around July 12, 2014. 

61. Ms. Menendez has never worked as a cosmetologist and is currently 

unemployed.  

62. The Department continues to collect on Ms. Menendez’s Direct 

Loans.   

Plaintiff Lydia Luna 

63. Lydia Luna is currently 55 years old and is a lifetime resident of 

Southern California.  

64. By 2013, Ms. Luna had worked as a manicurist for over 16 years. She 

had to stop working as a manicurist because she got sick from the chemicals in the 

nail salon. 

65. In November 2013, hoping to go back to school to learn additional 

cosmetology skills that would qualify her to work in hair salons, Ms. Luna visited 

the Marinello campus in City of Industry, California.  She met with a Marinello 

employee named Lisa. 

66. During Ms. Luna’s campus visit, Lisa asked whether Ms. Luna had a 
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high school diploma or GED.  

67. Ms. Luna gave Lisa a copy of her high school transcript from Lowell 

High School, which showed that Lydia had dropped out of high school after 

completing the 10th grade.   

68. Lisa assured Ms. Luna that she could still enroll in Marinello and earn 

a high school diploma through the Parkridge program.  

69. Ms. Luna paid $250 to Marinello for the Parkridge program. 

70. Marinello gave Ms. Luna three Parkridge workbooks and gave her a 

week to complete them on her own.  Shortly thereafter, Marinello provided her 

with a high school diploma. 

71. Ms. Luna believed Marinello’s assurances that the Parkridge high 

school diploma was valid.   

72. On or around November 27, 2013, Ms. Luna enrolled in the 

cosmetology program at Marinello’s City of Industry campus.   

73. Marinello falsely certified Ms. Luna’s federal financial aid eligibility 

based on the Parkridge program diploma.  Four Direct Loans totaling $15,802.00 

were subsequently disbursed to Marinello on Ms. Luna’s behalf.  

74. Marinello informed her class that it lacked enough teachers to instruct 

the freshman class.  As a result, Marinello instructed them to join the senior class, 

which had already progressed to cutting clients’ hair in Marinello’s clinical space.   

75. Ms. Luna and her freshman class were then told to remain in a corner 

of the room and do the best that they could to watch the seniors cutting hair and 

learn on their own.  

76. In addition, Ms. Luna had informed the school that she is left-handed 

and therefore needed to learn how to use left-handed hair-cutting instruments.  

77. Although Marinello had agreed to provide students with their own 

hair-cutting instruments, Marinello did not provide Ms. Luna with left-handed 
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instruments until seven months into her ten-month program.  Since none of the 

instructors at Marinello knew how to use left-handed scissors, Marinello told Ms. 

Luna that she had to learn how to cut with them on her own. 

78. On or around September 27, 2014, Ms. Luna completed the 

cosmetology program at Marinello.  

79. Ms. Luna lost her first job at a hair salon because she had not been 

properly trained at Marinello.   

80. Ms. Luna returned to working as a manicurist, the same job she had 

prior to attending Marinello, because she lacks the skills necessary to work in a 

hair salon. 

81. The Department continues to collect on Ms. Luna’s Direct Loans.  

Leonard Valdez 

82. Leonard Valdez is currently 47 years old. He is a lifetime resident of 

Orange County, California.  

83. In 2013, Mr. Valdez was working in the backroom at Target. He had 

worked up to this position, but knew that he could not progress to a higher level 

due to his limited education. 

84. Mr. Valdez had dropped out of Polaris High School in Anaheim, 

California, without earning his diploma in order to work and support his mother 

after his parents divorced. 

85. Mr. Valdez wanted a career change and decided to pursue barbering.   

86. In January 2014, he visited a Marinello campus in Anaheim, 

California. He met with a Marinello employee named Priscilla.  

87. Mr. Valdez informed Priscilla that he had not completed high school 

and had not earned a GED.  

88. Priscilla assured Mr. Valdez that Marinello could help him earn his 

high school diploma through the Parkridge program. She emphasized that he 
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would be obtaining a valid high school diploma. 

89. Mr. Valdez paid $300 for the Parkridge program.  

90. Marinello gave Mr. Valdez a Parkridge workbook.  

91. After a week, Marinello had Mr. Valdez take the Parkridge high 

school diploma test.   

92. Marinello eventually gave him a Parkridge diploma. 

93. On or around January 6, 2014, Mr. Valdez enrolled in the barbering 

program at Marinello’s Anaheim campus.  

94. Marinello falsely certified Mr. Valdez’s federal financial aid 

eligibility based on the Parkridge program diploma.  Four Direct Loans totaling 

$16,474.00 were subsequently disbursed to Marinello on Mr. Valdez’s behalf.  

95. During his program, Mr. Valdez did not feel properly trained because 

there were not enough instructors to teach the class.  

96. When he first started his program, there were two instructors: one to 

teach the workbook and prepare students for the state board exam and the other to 

teach practice skills of cosmetology.  

97. Soon after he started, Mr. Valdez’s class only had one instructor.  

Since the instructor was also busy assisting paying clients who came to Marinello 

for haircuts, the instructor had limited time to instruct students on how to perform 

basic skills like cutting.  

98. Most of the time, the instructor would do the cuts himself and would 

not take the time to teach students haircutting skills.  

99. Mr. Valdez graduated from Marinello’s barbering program on or 

around March 17, 2015.  

100. After graduating, Mr. Valdez found a job at a barber shop, but he was 

quickly fired due to his lack of training.  

101. Mr. Valdez had to learn barbering skills from barbers on the job 
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because he was not properly trained at Marinello.  

102. The Department continues to collect on Mr. Valdez’s Direct Loans.  

Department’s Denial of Plaintiffs’ False Certification Discharge Applications 

103. Based on these facts and the Department’s findings that Marinello 

used the fraudulent Parkridge program to falsely certify the financial aid eligibility 

of students who lacked a high school diploma or GED, Plaintiffs are eligible for 

false certification discharge under the statutory mandate of the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 

1087(c).  

104. Plaintiffs therefore jointly submitted false certification discharge 

applications on December 22, 2016.   

105. The applications were submitted with over 140 pages of supporting 

evidence, including Plaintiffs’ sworn declarations and the Department’s February 

2016 letter determining that Marinello falsely certified borrowers based on 

Parkridge high school diplomas. The Department denied all three Plaintiffs’ 

discharge applications in January 2017. 

106. In the denial letters, the Department stated Plaintiffs were not eligible 

for false certification loan discharges because they were not enrolled at a 

postsecondary school prior to July 1, 2012, the effective date of Congress’s repeal 

of the ability-to-benefit eligibility alternative for non-high school graduates.   

107. On information and belief, in denying Plaintiffs’ discharge 

applications, the Department improperly disregarded the statutory false 

certification discharge mandate of the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c).  Instead, the 

Department relied on the out-of-date false certification regulation, 34 C.F.R. § 

685.215(a)(1), which conflicts with the statute’s broad mandate by narrowing false 

certification discharge eligibility for students who lack a high school diploma or 

GED.  The current regulation, unlike the statute, states that these students are 

eligible for a false certification discharge only when a school failed to properly 
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administer an ATB test.  Thus, because Congress repealed the ATB eligibility 

alternative for non-high school graduates as of July 1, 2012, students who enroll 

after that date cannot qualify for a false certification discharge under the current 

regulation even when a school falsely certifies that they have a high school 

diploma. 

Delay and Reconsideration of Updated False Certification Discharge Regulation 

108. After an extensive rulemaking process, on November 1, 2016, the 

Department published an updated Direct Loan false certification discharge 

regulation designed to “address the problem of schools encouraging non-high school 

graduates to obtain false high school diplomas.” 81 Fed. Reg. 75,926, 76,082 (Nov. 

1, 2016); 81 Fed. Reg. 39,330, 39,377 (June 16, 2016). The updated regulation is 

hereinafter referred to as the “Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.” 

109. The rulemaking process lasted over one year. During that time, the 

Department held two public hearings and considered over 10,000 comments 

regarding possible topics for the rulemaking (80 Fed. Reg. 63,478, 63,479 (Oct. 20, 

2015)). It then convened a negotiated rulemaking committee comprised of sixteen 

negotiators representing a wide range of stakeholders who met for three multi-day 

rulemaking sessions in 2016 (81 Fed. Reg. 39,330, 39,333-34). Following the 

rulemaking sessions, the Department proposed regulations (81 Fed. Reg. 39,330 and 

considered comments submitted by over 50,000 parties (81 Fed. Reg. 75,926, 

75,928). 

110. The November 1, 2016 notice publishing the final Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule included extensive new regulations regarding other 

matters, including the use of arbitration provisions in enrollment agreements and 

procedures that would allow borrowers to seek cancellation of their federal loans 

based on unlawful conduct by their schools (collectively, the “2016 Final 

Regulations”).  
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111. Under the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, Direct Loan 

borrowers who were not high school graduates and did not meet an alternative 

eligibility provision when they enrolled would be eligible for a false certification 

discharge if (a) the borrower reported not having a high school diploma to the school 

and (b) the school certified his or her eligibility based on a “high school diploma 

falsified by the school or a third party to which the school referred the borrower.”  

81 Fed. Reg. 75,926, 76,082 (amending 34 C.F.R. § 685.215(a)(1)).  

112. This updated regulation clarifies the categories of borrowers that are 

eligible for false certification discharges, including borrowers like plaintiffs.  

Plaintiffs would have qualified for discharges under this updated regulation because 

(a) Plaintiffs did not have high school diplomas and did not meet an alternative to 

the high school graduation eligibility requirement; (b) Plaintiffs reported not having 

high school diplomas to Marinello; and (c) Marinello certified Plaintiffs’ financial 

aid eligibility based on high school diplomas falsified by Marinello and a third party 

(Parkridge) to which Marinello had referred them. 

113. This Updated False Certification Discharge Rule was to take effect on 

July 1, 2017.  

114. The updated regulation would have applied to all Direct Loans, 

including those made prior to July 1, 2017. 

115. The existing regulation does not prohibit borrowers from resubmitting 

or seeking Department review of previously denied false certification discharge 

applications. 

116. Plaintiffs had therefore planned on resubmitting their false 

certification discharge applications or seeking review of the Department’s denial 

after July 1, 2017. 

/// 

/// 
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First Delay Rule 
117. Plaintiffs never reapplied for a discharge.  Doing so would have been 

futile because the Department effectively repealed the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Rule by delaying its effective date to at least July 1, 2018. 

118. On June 16, 2017, the Department published a final rule delaying “until 

further notice” the 2016 Final Regulations, including the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Rule.  82 Fed. Reg. 27,621, 27,622 (June 16, 2017) (hereinafter, the “First 

Delay Rule”).   

119. The Department did not convene a negotiated rulemaking committee or 

provide an opportunity for public notice and comment, as required by the APA, 5 

U.S.C. § 533, and the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1098a, before publishing the First Delay 

Rule with an immediate effective date.   

120. Instead, in the First Delay Rule notice, the Department claimed that it 

had the authority to dispense with these rulemaking requirements by invoking 5 

U.S.C. § 705.  82 Fed. Reg. 27,621, 27,622.  Section 705 provides that “[w]hen an 

agency finds that justice so requires, it may postpone the effective date of action 

taken by it, pending judicial review.” 

121. The Department “concluded that justice require[d] it to postpone” most 

provisions of the 2016 Final Regulations until resolution of a lawsuit filed by the 

California Association of Private Postsecondary Schools (“CAPPS”) on May 24, 

2017. 82 Fed. Reg. 27,621, 27,622. 

122. The Department reached this conclusion by finding that the CAPPS 

lawsuit “raised serious questions concerning the validity of certain provisions of the 

final regulations.”  82 Fed. Reg. 27,621 (emph. added).   

123. However, while the CAPPS lawsuit challenged the validity of the 2016 

Final Regulations, neither CAPPS’s complaint nor its subsequent motion seeking a 

preliminary injunction refer to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.  
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124. CAPPS’s complaint specifically challenged only four aspects of the 

2016 Final Regulations: (a) provisions regarding the use of forced arbitration clauses 

and class action waivers in school enrollment contracts; (b) standards and procedures 

for the evaluation of “borrower defenses” to repayment of Title IV loans (not 

including false certification discharges which involve separate procedures); (c) new 

financial responsibility requirements for schools and related student disclosures; and 

(d) new disclosure requirements for schools whose former students do not meet 

specific requirements about paying down their federal loans after leaving school.   

125.   Of these four aspects of the 2016 Final Regulations, CAPPS’s 

subsequent motion for preliminary injunction only sought an order enjoining the 

Department from implementing the regulations regarding arbitration clauses and 

class action waivers.   

126. The Department also found that CAPPS had “identified substantial 

injuries that could result if the final regulations go into effect before those questions 

[regarding the validity of certain provisions] are resolved.”  82 Fed. Reg. 27,621. 

127. The only potential injuries cited by the Department were (1) the cost to 

schools of modifying enrollment agreements to comply with the new arbitration 

clause and class action waiver provisions and (2) the new financial responsibility 

requirements that could trigger a school’s obligation to provide a letter of credit or 

other financial protection.  Id. Again, neither the Department nor the CAPPS lawsuit 

identified any injuries that could result from the implementation of the Updated 

False Certification Discharge Rule. 

128. The Department found that the United States would suffer no 

significant harm from delaying the 2016 Final Regulations and would avoid 

significant costs to schools, the government, and the taxpayer.  Id.  However, the 

only costs identified by the Department were (1) the costs identified in the Net 

Budget Impacts Section of the Regulatory Impact Analysis of the 2016 Final 
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Regulations; (2) the costs of the new borrower defense procedures, and (3) the costs 

of the new three-year automatic closed school discharges.  Id.   

129. Notably, the Net Budget Impacts Section of the Regulatory Impact 

Analysis for the 2016 Final Regulations states, “[w]e do not expect an increase in 

false certification discharge claims to result in a significant budget impact from” the 

Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.  81 Fed. Reg. 75,927, 76,060.  

130. The Department did not provide any other explanation or justification 

for delaying the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule in the First Delay Rule 

notice. 

131. The Department did not address the benefits of the Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule, including the financial benefits to harmed student loan 

borrowers and the benefits to the government and prospective student loan 

borrowers from discouraging the type of false certification fraud engaged in by 

Marinello. 

132. In addition, the Department did not address or provide a reasoned 

explanation for disregarding prior factual findings underlying the Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule. 

Reconsideration of 2016 Final Regulations 

133. In the June 16, 2017 First Delay Rule notice, the Department also 

announced its plans to conduct a new rulemaking process to “review and revise” the 

2016 Final Regulations.  The announced process included a plan to convene a new 

negotiated rulemaking committee.  82 Fed. Reg. 27,621, 27,622.   

134. On the same day, the Department published a separate notice regarding 

its intent to undertake a “regulatory reset” beginning through negotiated rulemaking 

committee meetings starting in November or December 2017.  Press Release, Dep’t 

of Educ., Secretary DeVos Announces Regulatory Reset to Protect Students, 

Taxpayers Higher Ed Institutions (June 14, 2017); 82 Fed. Reg. 27,640 (June 16, 
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2017).   

135. On June 22, 2017, the Department published a notice seeking public 

input on which of its regulations it should consider repealing, modifying or 

replacing.  82 Fed. Reg. 28,431 (June 22, 2017). 

136. On August 30, 2017, the Department published a notice soliciting 

nominations for seats on two negotiated rulemaking committees, including one that 

would consider a number of topics including false certification discharges.  82 Fed. 

Reg. 41,194 (Aug. 30, 2017).   

137. The Department convened the first meeting of the committee 

considering false certification discharge regulations on November 13, 2017. 

Interim Final Rule 

138. On October 24, 2017, the Department published an interim final rule 

(“Interim Final Rule” or “IFR”), effective immediately, delaying implementation of 

the 2016 Final Regulations, including the Updated False Certification Discharge 

Rule, until July 1, 2018.  82 Fed. Reg. 49,114 (Oct. 24, 2017).   

139. The Department did not engage in negotiated rulemaking or provide 

any opportunity for public comment, as required by the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1098a, 

and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 533, before publishing the IFR. 

140. Instead, the Department found it had good cause to bypass these 

rulemaking requirements under the 5 U.S.C. § 553(b) (APA) and 20 U.S.C. § 

1098a(b)(2) (HEA). These sections state that the Department may bypass 

rulemaking procedures only when there is good cause to do so because such 

procedures are “impracticable, unnecessary, or contrary to the public interest.” 

141. The Department found that compliance with public rulemaking 

procedures was impracticable and unnecessary based on the HEA “master calendar” 

requirement. 82 Fed. Reg. 49,114, 49,117.   

142. Under the master calendar requirement, “any regulatory changes . . . 
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affecting the programs” under Title IV “that have not been published in final form 

by November 1 prior to the start of the award year” beginning on July 1 “shall not 

become effective until the beginning of the second award year after such November 

1 date.”  20 U.S.C. § 1089(c).  

143. The Department reasoned that because the First Delay Rule delayed the 

effective date of the 2016 Final Regulations past July 1, 2017, under the master 

calendar requirement the earliest new effective date for these regulations is July 1, 

2018, in the event that the CAPPS litigation is resolved prior to that date. 82 Fed. 

Reg. 49,114, 49,116.     

144. However, the IFR is not necessary to enact an effective date for the 

2016 Final Regulations.  If the Department had not enacted the IFR, the effective 

date of July 1, 2017 for the 2016 Final Regulations, including the Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule, would be restored in the event that the CAPPS 

litigation (which was the basis for the First Delay Rule) was resolved and any of the 

2016 Final Regulations withstood challenge.  In this case, the original effective date 

would comply with the HEA’s master calendar requirement. 

145. In the notice, the Department also concluded that the IFR would avoid 

costs of compliance for schools and the costs to the government and taxpayers 

resulting from the implementation of the new borrower defense and closed school 

discharge regulations. Id.   

146. The Department’s cost analysis omitted any mention of the Updated 

False Certification Discharge Rule. Nor did it provide any other justification or 

explanation for the delay of the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

147. The IFR notice did not include any analysis of the actual or potential 

harm or negative impact the delay would cause for borrowers like the Plaintiffs, or 

the benefits of the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.   

148. In contrast to the Department’s assurance that its delay of the new 
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borrower defense regulation will not negatively impact borrowers because it is 

processing those claims, the Department is denying false certification discharge 

applications from borrowers, including Plaintiffs, who enrolled after July 1, 2012 

and whose schools falsely certified their financial aid eligibility based on fraudulent 

high school diplomas provided by the school.  

149. On October 24, 2017, the Department separately proposed a further 

delay of implementation of the 2016 Final Regulations until July 1, 2019.  82 Fed. 

Reg. 49,155 (Oct. 24, 2017).   

150. In publishing the First Delay Rule and the Interim Final Rule without 

following the required HEA and APA rulemaking procedures, Defendants have 

deprived Plaintiffs of a benefit to which they are entitled under both the HEA and 

the 2016 Final Regulations. 

151. Moreover, in the context of both the Department’s proposed further 

delay of those regulations until July 1, 2019, and the current negotiated rulemaking 

proceeding re-evaluating the 2016 Final Regulations, the Department could 

promulgate a regulation that does less to clarify Plaintiffs’ eligibility for false 

certification discharges.  Worse yet, a new regulation could go so far as to preclude 

them from qualifying for false certification discharges.   

152. Thus, the First Delay Rule and the Interim Final Rule affect the rights 

and obligations of and have a direct impact on Plaintiffs.  The First Delay Rule and 

IFR have caused substantial injury to the Plaintiffs.  As long as Plaintiffs are 

precluded from obtaining false certification discharges, they must repay their loans, 

respond to the Department’s debt collection efforts, and face the consequences of 

default if they do not.  In addition, to the extent they wish to attend a legitimate 

postsecondary school, until the Marinello Direct Loans are cancelled or paid down, 

they will count towards the maximum amounts Plaintiffs are allowed to borrow 

under the Direct Loan program.  This will limit their ability to pay for a legitimate 
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undergraduate higher education.  Moreover, the Direct Loans will continue to appear 

on their credit reports and impact their ability to obtain other forms of credit.    

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Denial of Discharge Applications - Pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706) 

153. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 

154. Plaintiffs’ applications for false certification discharge, along with the 

evidence submitted with those applications, satisfied the eligibility standards set 

forth in 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c) for discharge of the Direct Loans they obtained to 

attend Marinello. 

155. The denials of Plaintiffs’ individual applications for false certification 

student loan discharge constitute final agency actions, as defined by 5 U.S.C. § 704, 

and are therefore reviewable under the APA.   

156. Defendants’ denials of Plaintiffs’ false certification discharge 

applications were arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and 

otherwise not in accordance with the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c), in violation of the 

APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

157. Plaintiffs ask this court to declare that Defendants’ denials of their 

applications for false certification discharge were unlawful, arbitrary, capricious, an 

abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the HEA, 

20 U.S.C. § 1087(c), in violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

158. Pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 706(1) and (2)(A), Plaintiffs 

further ask this court to reverse Defendants’ denials of their applications for false  

/// 

/// 

/// 
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certification discharge and compel Defendants to grant Plaintiffs’ applications and 

a. Cease collection efforts on Plaintiffs’ Direct Loans; 

b. Discharge the liability on Plaintiffs’ Direct Loans; and  

c. Grant Plaintiffs all relief authorized by 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c)(1) 

and 34 C.F.R. § 685.215. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S. C. §§ 2201-2202) 

159. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 

160. For the reasons set forth in the First Cause of Action, Plaintiffs seek a 

declaratory judgment, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, that under the HEA, 20 

U.S.C. § 1087(c), the Department is obligated to discharge the Direct Loan(s) of a 

borrower and provide the relief authorized by 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c) and 34 C.F.R. § 

685.215 whenever the borrower submits an application attesting to the following: 

 a. The borrower (or the student on whose behalf a parent borrowed) 

did not have a high school diploma or its equivalent and did not meet 

alternative financial aid eligibility requirements provided in the HEA; and 

b. The postsecondary institution certified the eligibility of the 

borrower (or the student on whose behalf the parent borrowed) to receive 

Direct Loans based on a high school graduation status falsified by the school 

or a high school diploma falsified by the school or a third party to which the 

school referred the borrower.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(First Delay Rule – Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D) – 

Failure to Observe Procedure Required by Law) 

161. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 
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fully set forth herein. 

162. Defendants are subject to the rulemaking procedures of the APA and 

the HEA. 
163. The First Delay Rule is a final agency action, as defined by the APA, 5 

U.S.C. § 704. 

164. The First Delay Rule is a final agency action because:  

a.  it delays the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, which 

was published after an extensive notice-and-comment and rulemaking 

process;  

b. it marks the consummation of Defendants’ decision-making 

process to enact an indefinite delay in order to reconsider, amend, or repeal 

the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule; and  

c. directly and negatively modifies Plaintiffs’ legal rights and 

obligations with respect to the Direct Loans they obtained to attend Marinello.   

165. The First Delay Rule is therefore subject to judicial review under the 

APA. 

166. The First Delay Rule is a substantive rescission of the effective date of 

the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, as demonstrated by the facts alleged 

in this Complaint, including in paragraphs 108 through 137 and paragraphs 161 

through 163. 

167. Because the First Delay Rule is a substantive final rule, Defendants 

were required to comply with the rulemaking procedures of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 

553, and the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1098a. 

168. Defendants did not publish a notice of proposed rulemaking in the 

Federal Register or provide interested persons with an opportunity to comment 

before the effective date of the First Delay Rule, in violation of 5 U.S.C. §§ 553(b), 

(c) and (d). 
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169. Defendants did not seek or obtain public involvement in the 

development of the First Delay Rule, submit the First Delay Rule to a negotiated 

rulemaking process, or publish a notice of proposed rulemaking in the Federal 

Register and provide interested persons with an opportunity to comment before the 

effective date of the final First Delay Rule, in violation of 20 U.S.C. §§ 1098a(a) and 

(b). 

170. Under 5 U.S.C. § 705, to justify their failure to comply with the 

required rulemaking processes with respect to the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Rule, Defendants must show each of the following, specifically, as 

applied to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule:  (a) CAPPS is likely to 

prevail on the merits of its complaint; (b) the absence of the delay will cause 

irreparable harm; (c) the public will not be harmed by the delay; and (d) the public 

interest requires the delay.   

171. Defendants’ notice of the First Delay Rule failed to acknowledge or 

comply with this four-part test applicable to Section 705 stays.   

172. Defendants’ notice of the First Delay Rule did not provide any 

justification for the delay of the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.   

173. Moreover, Defendants did not and could not have cited facts 

demonstrating that the First Delay Rule met the four-part test because: 

a. CAPPS did not state any facts that would serve as a basis for 

challenging the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule in its complaint or 

its motion for preliminary injunction.   

b. Defendants therefore did not have any basis in fact or law on 

which to conclude that CAPPS is likely to prevail on a challenge to the 

Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

c. CAPPS did not allege in its complaint or its motion for 

preliminary injunction that its members would be harmed if the Updated False 
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Certification Discharge Rule went into effect. 

d. Defendants provided no analysis or facts to demonstrate that the 

public will not be harmed by the delay of the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Rule. 

e. Defendants failed to acknowledge or evaluate significant injuries 

that Plaintiffs and other students are likely to suffer from the indefinite delay 

and possible rescission of the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

f. Defendants provided no analysis or facts to demonstrate that the 

public interest requires the delay of the Updated False Certification Discharge 

Rule.  

g. On the contrary, to the extent the public interest is equivalent to 

the Department’s or a taxpayer’s interest in avoiding costs, the Net Budget 

Impacts Section of the Regulatory Impact Analysis for the 2016 Final 

Regulations states, “[w]e do not expect an increase in false certification 

discharge claims to result in a significant budget impact from” the Updated 

False Certification Discharge Rule.  81 Fed. Reg. 75,926, 76,060.   

h. Defendants did not provide any facts to discredit this earlier 

conclusion. 

174. Defendants failed to articulate any rational connection between the First 

Delay Rule, with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, and the 

CAPPS lawsuit. 

175. In addition, the HEA does not contain any provision that permits the 

Department to bypass the HEA public rulemaking procedures based on 5 U.S.C. § 

705. 

176. Based on the facts alleged in this Complaint, including in paragraphs 

108 through 137 and paragraphs 161 through 175 herein, Defendants’ failure to 

observe the rulemaking procedures of the HEA and APA in enacting the First Delay 
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Rule is a violation of the APA, § 706(2)(D).   

177. Plaintiffs have been adversely affected and aggrieved by the First Delay 

Rule for which there is no other adequate remedy in law and therefore seek review 

of the First Delay Rule under 5 U.S.C. § 702. 

178. Plaintiffs therefore request that the First Delay Rule be held unlawful, 

vacated and set aside with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(First Delay Rule – Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A) – 

Arbitrary, Capricious and Otherwise Contrary to Law) 
179. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs 

as if fully set forth herein. 
180. Prior to enactment of the First Delay Rule, Defendants failed to: 

a. Address prior factual findings underlying the November 
1, 2016 publication of the Updated False Certification Discharge 
Rule; 

b. Articulate any connection between its findings in the 
First Delay Rule notice and the delay of the Updated False 
Certification Discharge Rule; 

c. Consider the benefits of the Updated False Certification 
Discharge Rule. 

181. Based on the facts alleged in this Complaint, including paragraphs 108 

through 137 and paragraphs 161 through 180, Defendants’ justification for enacting 

the First Delay Rule without complying with the required APA and HEA public 

rulemaking procedures is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law in violation of 5 

U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

182. Plaintiffs request that the First Delay Rule be held unlawful, 

vacated and set aside with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(First Delay Rule – Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(C) – 

Agency Action in Excess of Statutory Authority) 

183. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 

184. Defendants’ findings under 5 U.S.C. § 705 that justice required it to 

enact the First Delay Rule with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge 

Rule were in excess of statutory authority, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). 

185. The HEA does not contain any provision that permits Defendants to 

bypass the HEA public rulemaking procedures based on 5 U.S.C. § 705. 

186. The HEA permits Defendants to bypass the HEA public rulemaking 

procedures only when they determine there is good cause to do so under 5 U.S.C. § 

553(b) of the APA. 

187. In the First Delay Rule notice, Defendants made no findings under 5 

U.S.C. § 553(b). 

188. Defendants’ publication of the First Delay Rule with respect to the 

Updated False Certification Discharge Rule without complying with the rulemaking 

procedures required by APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1098a, was 

therefore in excess of Defendants’ statutory authority in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(C). 

189. Plaintiffs request that the First Delay Rule be held unlawful, vacated 

and set aside with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Interim Final Rule – Violation of the APA –  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D) – 

Failure to Observe Procedure Required by Law) 

190. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 
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191. The Interim Final Rule is a final agency action, as defined by the APA, 

5 U.S.C. § 704. 

192. The IFR is a final agency action because:  

a. it delays the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, which 

was published after an extensive notice-and-comment and rulemaking 

process;  

b. it marks the consummation of Defendants’ decision-making 

process to enact a delay and reconsider, amend, or repeal the 2016 Final 

Regulations, including the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, and 

prevent them from going into effect before July 1, 2018, even if any of the 

2016 Final Regulations are upheld and the CAPPS litigation is resolved prior 

to that date; and  

c. it directly and negatively modifies Plaintiffs’ legal rights and 

obligations with respect to the Direct Loans they obtained to attend Marinello.   

193. The IFR is therefore subject to judicial review under the APA.  

194. The IFR is a substantive rescission of the effective date because it 

prevents the reinstatement of the original July 1, 2017 effective date of the 2016 

Final Regulations, including the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, even if 

any of the 2016 Final Regulations are upheld and the CAPPS litigation resolved 

prior to July 1, 2018. 

195. Because the IFR is a substantive rule, Defendants were required to 

comply with the rulemaking procedures of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and the HEA, 

20 U.S.C. § 1098a. 

196. Defendants did not publish a notice of proposed rulemaking in the 

Federal Register or provide interested persons with an opportunity to comment 

before the effective date of the IFR, in violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 553(b), (c) 
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and (d).  

197. Defendants also did not obtain public involvement in the development 

of the IFR, submit the IFR to a negotiated rulemaking process, or publish a notice of 

proposed rulemaking in the Federal Register and provide interested persons with an 

opportunity to comment before the effective date of the final IFR, in violation of the 

HEA, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1098a(a) and (b). 

198. Defendants invoked good cause under 5 U.S.C. § 553(b) and 20 U.S.C. 

§ 1098a(b)(2) as grounds to enact the IFR without complying with the rulemaking 

procedures required by the APA and the HEA.  

199. Defendants determined that they had good cause to dispense with the 

APA and HEA rulemaking procedures and that these procedures were impracticable 

and unnecessary due to the HEA master calendar requirements.   

200. Defendants’ findings, however, are based on an incorrect analysis of the 

law: 

a. If any of the 2016 Final Regulations withstood challenge in the 

CAPPS litigation, including the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule, 

the HEA’s master calendar requirement would allow them to be effective as of 

July 1, 2017, since they were published on November 1, 2016.  

b. Thus, if any of the 2016 Final Regulations withstood challenge in 

any pending litigation at any time, it would be unnecessary for the Department 

to publish a new effective date. 
201. Moreover, none of the costs or harms cited in the IFR notice had any 

relation to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule.  Instead, they only 
related to the regulations regarding closed school discharges, borrower defenses to 
repayment, arbitration clauses, class action waivers, and financial responsibility.  

202. Defendants did not articulate any other facts supporting its 

determination that the compliance with the public rulemaking procedures was 
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impracticable or unnecessary. 

203. Defendants did not and could not show that compliance with the 

rulemaking requirements in enacting the IFR would have been contrary to public 

interest.  Defendants ignored significant injuries that Plaintiffs and other students 

are likely to suffer from the delay and possible rescission of the Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule.   

204. Defendant lacked good cause to enact the IFR with respect to the 

Updated False Certification Discharge Rule without complying with the 

procedures required by the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and the HEA, 20 U.S.C.  § 

1098a. 

205. Defendants’ failure to observe the rulemaking procedures of the APA 

and HEA in enacting the IFR is a violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(D).    

206. Plaintiffs have been adversely affected and aggrieved by the 

enactment of the IFR, for which there is no other adequate remedy in court, and 

may therefore seek review of the IFR under 5 U.S.C. § 702. 

207. Plaintiffs request that the IFR be held unlawful, vacated, and set aside 

with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Interim Final Rule – Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A) – 

Arbitrary, Capricious and Otherwise Contrary to Law) 
208. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 
209. The Department failed to do the following in the IFR notice: 

a. Address prior factual findings underlying the November 1, 
2016 publication of the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule; 

b. Articulate any connection between its findings regarding costs 
in the IFR notice and the delay of the Updated False Certification Discharge 
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Rule; and 
c. Consider the benefits of the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Rule. 

210. Based on the facts alleged in this Complaint, including paragraphs 

108 through 152 and paragraphs 191 through 209, Defendants’ findings in the IFR 

notice that it had good cause under 5 U.S.C. § 553(b) and 20 U.S.C. § 1098a(b)(2) 

to dispense with the public rulemaking procedures with respect to the Updated 

False Certification Discharge Rule was arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law in 

violation of 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A). 

211. Plaintiffs request that the IFR be held unlawful, vacated, and set aside 

with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Interim Final Rule – Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(C) – 

Agency Action in Excess of Statutory Authority) 

212. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

fully set forth herein. 

213. Defendants’ determination that they had good cause to dispense with 

the rulemaking procedures of the HEA and APA in enacting the IFR with respect 

to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule was in excess of Defendants’ 

statutory authority in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). 

214. Defendants’ publication of the IFR with respect to the Updated False 

Certification Discharge Rule without complying with the rulemaking procedures 

required by APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, and the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1098a, was in excess 

of Defendants’ statutory authority in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). 

215. Plaintiffs request that the IFR be held unlawful, vacated, and set aside 

with respect to the Updated False Certification Discharge Rule. 

/// 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter a 

judgment and order for relief as follows: 

1. Declaring that Defendants’ denials of Plaintiffs’ false certification 

discharge applications were arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary 

to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c), in 

violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); 

2. Reversing the Department’s final decisions denying Plaintiffs’ false 

certification discharge applications pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); 

3. Compelling the Secretary, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1), to: 

a. Cease collection efforts on Plaintiffs’ Direct Loans; 

b. Discharge the liability on Plaintiffs’ Direct Loans; and  

c. Grant Plaintiffs all relief authorized by 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c)(1) 

and 34 C.F.R. § 685.215; 

4. Declaring that under the HEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c), the Department is 

obligated to discharge the Direct Loan(s) of a borrower and provide the relief 

authorized by 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c) and 34 C.F.R. § 685.215 whenever the borrower 

submits an application attesting to the following: 

a. The borrower (or the student on whose behalf a parent 

borrowed) did not have a high school diploma or its equivalent and did not 

meet alternative financial aid eligibility requirements provided in the HEA; 

and 

b. The postsecondary institution certified the eligibility of the 

borrower (or the student on whose behalf the parent borrowed) to receive 

Direct Loans based on a high school graduation status falsified by the school 

or a high school diploma falsified by the school or a third party to which the 

school referred the borrower;  

Case 2:18-cv-01061   Document 1   Filed 02/07/18   Page 35 of 37   Page ID #:35



 

 36 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

5. Declaring unlawful, vacating, and setting aside the First Delay Rule 

notice and First Delay Rule with respect to the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Regulation; 

6. Declaring unlawful, vacating, and setting aside the Interim Final Rule 

notice and Interim Final Rule with respect to the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Regulation; 

7. Ordering Defendants to implement the Updated False Certification 

Discharge Regulation immediately; 

8. Ordering Defendants to pay the costs of this action, together with 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 

2412(d)(1)(A), as determined by the Court; and 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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9. Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper. 

 
DATED: February 7, 2018  Respectfully submitted, 
      
     /s/ Robyn Smith__________             
     Robyn Smith 
     Yolanda Arias 
     Josephine Lee 
     Andrew Kazakes 

LEGAL AID FOUNDATION OF LOS ANGELES 
5228 Whittier Boulevard 
Los Angeles, CA 90022 
Telephone: (213) 640-3944 
Facsimile: (213) 640-3911 
 
Joanna Darcus 
Charles Delbaum         
NATIONAL CONSUMER LAW CENTER 
7 Winthrop Square 
Boston, MA 02110 
Telephone:  (617) 542-8010 
Facsimile: (617) 542-8028 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Lizette Menendez, 
Lydia Luna, and Leonard Valdez 
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1 
Andrew Kazakes, SBN 277912 
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2 Yolanda Arias, SBN 130025 

3 
yarias@lafla.org 
Robyn Smith, SBN 165446 

4 rsmith@lafla.org 

5 Josephine Lee, SBN 308439 
j slee@lafla.org 

6 LEGAL AID FOUNDATION OF LOS ANGELES 

7 5228 Whittier Boulevard 
Los Angeles, CA 90022 

8 Telephone: (213) 640-3944 

9 Facsimile: (213) 640-3911 

1 O Attorneys for Plaintiff 

11 SONIA RAMOS ESCOBEDO 

12 

13 

14 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

15 SONIA RAMOS ESCOBEDO, 

16 

17 

18 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

19 BETSY DEVOS, in her official 
capacity as Secretary of the United 

20 States Department of Education, 

Defendant. 

) Case No.: 2:17-cv-07586-FMO (PJWx) 
) 
) FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
) FOR REVIEW OF FINAL AGENCY 
) ACTION AND FOR 
) DECLARATORY RELIEF 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

~~~~~~~~~~~~). 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Sonia Ramos Escobedo ("Plaintiff') brings this action, 

26 pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 702, for judicial review of the Secretary of the U.S. 

1 
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1 Department of Education's (the "Secretary" or the "Department") denial of her 

2 application for discharge of her federal student loans. She also seeks a declaration, 

3 pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, that the Department's informal evidentiary 

4 policy for the evaluation of false certification discharge applications based on 

5 ability-to-benefit fraud is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to 

6 law, and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 

7 1071-1099d, and its implementing regulations in violation of the Administrative 

8 Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706. 

9 2. In 1988, after Plaintiff had dropped out of high school and was only 

10 17 years of age, the Career Institute fraudulently obtained over $5,000 of federal 

11 student loans in Plaintiffs name even though she did not enroll or attend a single 

12 day of class. In doing so, the Career Institute falsely certified her eligibility for 

13 federal financial aid because it failed to test her "ability to benefit" from the Career 

14 Institute's program, as required by federal law. This federal law was enacted to 

15 ensure that vulnerable students like Plaintiff, who lacked a high school diploma or 

16 GED, took on federal student debt only if they had the basic skills necessary to 

17 succeed in their postsecondary education programs. 

18 3. In 1991, after a 2-year investigation, a U.S. Senate Subcommittee 

19 determined that, between 1986 and 1991, the Department's "gross 

20 mismanagement, ineptitude, and/or neglect in carrying out its oversight" 

21 responsibilities led to a "national epidemic" of for-profit school fraud, including 

22 the widespread "falsification of information used to satisfy ... ability-to-benefit 

23 requirements." It was based on these findings that Congress enacted 20 U.S.C. § 

24 1087( c ), which requires the Secretary to discharge student loans for borrowers 

25 whose schools falsely certify that they are eligible for federal financial aid. 

26 Ill 
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1 4. In 2015, as soon as Plaintiff discovered that she might be eligible for a 

2 discharge under this law, she submitted an application for a false certification 

3 discharge to the Department. Despite the fact that the Department has no evidence 

4 controverting Plaintiffs sworn application and the Senate Subcommittee's 

5 findings, it applied its informal "corroborating evidence" policy and inferred that 

6 Plaintiffs statements were false and the Career Institute had not engaged in ability-

7 to-benefit fraud because it could not find any oversight agency determinations that 

8 the school had violated federal regulations in or around 1988. 

9 5. The Department now claims Plaintiff owes $30,970.67 on her 

10 defaulted federal loan and has initiated processes to seize thousands of dollars in 

11 income tax refunds which Plaintiff counts on to support her two grandchildren, for 

12 whom she is sole caretaker. Plaintiff cannot get out of default because she already 

13 used the one chance federal law allows to rehabilitate and consolidate out of 

14 default. Plaintiff therefore faces a lifetime of tax refund offsets, wage garnishments 

15 and Social Security offsets unless the Department discharges her toans. 

16 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17 6. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 

18 28 U.S.C. § 1331, the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 702, and the 

19 Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202. 

20 7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(l) 

21 because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in this 

22 district and Plaintiff resides in this district. 

23 

24 8. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff SONIA RAMOS ESCOBEDO (hereinafter "Plaintiff') 

25 resides, and at all relevant times has resided, in Los Angeles County, California. 

26 Ill 
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1 9. Defendant BETSY DEVOS is the Secretary (hereinafter, "Secretary" 

2 or "Defendant") of the United States Department of Education (hereinafter, 

3 collectively, "the Department"). The Secretary oversees all operations of the 

4 Department and the administration of the federal student loan programs. She is 

5 sued in her official capacity. 

6 BACKGROUND 

7 Secretary's Authority over the Federal Student Loan Programs 

8 10. Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965 ("REA"), 20 U.S.C. §§ 

9 1070-1099d, charges the Secretary with the responsibility of administering and 

10 overseeing the federal student loan programs, including the Federal Family 

11 Education Loan ("FFEL") and Direct Loan programs. 

12 11. Under the FFEL program, private lenders issued student loans to 

13 borrowers who met the eligibility criteria of the HEA. 20 U.S.C. §§ 1077, 1091(b). 

14 These loans were insured by guaranty agencies and in turn reinsured by the 

15 Department. 20 U.S.C. § 1078(b)-(c). 

16 12. Under the Direct Loan program, the federal government issues student 

17 loans directly to borrowers who meet the eligibility criteria of the HEA, including 

18 consolidation loans. 20 U.S.C. §§ 1087a, 1087e. 

19 13. Direct Loans and FFEL program loans have the same terms, 

20 conditions, and benefits. 20 U.S.C. § 1087e(a)(l). 

21 14. There is no statute oflimitations on the collection of Direct Loans or 

22 FFEL program loans. 20 U.S.C. § 109la(a)(2). 

23 15. The Secretary has promulgated regulations that dictate certain 

24 procedures that guaranty agencies and the Department must follow in 

25 administering the FFEL and Direct Loan programs. 34 C.F.R. Parts 682 (FFEL 

26 program) and 685 (Direct Loan program). 

4 
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1 False Certification Student Loan Discharges 

2 16. In 1986, Congress amended the HEA to allow a student who did not 

3 have a high school diploma or General Education Diploma ("GED") to receive 

4 financial aid if their school determined that he or she demonstrated an "ability to 

5 benefit" ("ATB") from the program the student sought to attend. See Pub. L. No. 

6 99-498, sec. 407(a), § 484(d), 100 Stat. 1268, 1481 (1986) (codified at 20 U.S.C. § 

7 1091(d)). 

8 17. In 1988, the relevant year in this case, a school could demonstrate that 

9 a student met the ATB exception by certifying that it administered an accreditor-

1 o approved "ability-to-benefit" test to the student and that the student had received a 

11 passing score before it disbursed the federal financial aid. See 20 U.S.C. §§ 

12 109l(d), (e)(l986); 34 C.F.R. § 682.402(e)(l3). 

13 18. Between 1989 and 1991, the U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on 

14 Investigations of the Committee on Governmental Affairs conducted an 

15 investigation into the causes of skyrocketing student loan defaults. S. Rep. No. 

16 102-58, 1st Sess. 37 (1991) (the "Nunn Report"). 

17 19. The study revealed a "national epidemic" of fraud by for-profit trade 

18 schools, including a "widespread" practice of fraudulently certifying students' 

19 ability to benefit from the schools' programs. Id. at 12. 

20 20. The Subcommittee determined that these widespread abuses were 

21 allowed to proliferate and continue due to a "complete breakdown in effective 

22 regulation and oversight." Id. at 11. The report stated that through "gross 

23 mismanagement, ineptitude, and/or neglect in carrying out its oversight and 

24 regulatory functions, the Department had all but abdicated its responsibility to the 

25 students it is siipposed to service .... " Id. at 37. 

26 Ill 

5 

First Amended Complaint for Judicial Review and Declaratory Relief Against Betsy De Vos 



Cas 2:17-cv-07586-FMO(~'W Document 12 Filed 11/20/17 li'~~,e 6 of 21 Page ID #:46 

1 21. The Subcommittee also determined that the other entities responsible 

2 for proprietary school oversight-state licensing agencies, guaranty agencies and 

3 accrediting agencies-were equally lax in monitoring schools' compliance with 

4 federal regulations because they "have neither the motivation nor the capabilities to 

5 effectively police the [financial aid] program." Id. at 32. 

6 22. In response to this widespread failure of the federal oversight system 

7 to prevent ATB fraud, Congress amended the REA in 1992 to provide that "the 

8 Secretary shall discharge [a] borrower's liability on [his or her] loan" when the 

9 borrower's "eligibility to borrow ... was falsely certified by an eligible 

10 institution." Higher Education Amendments of 1992, Pub. L. No. 102-325, sec. 

11 428, § 437(c), 106 Stat. 448, 551 (1992) (codified as amended at 20 U.S.C. § 

12 1087(c)) (emph. added). 

13 23. Federal regulations require a student seeking discharge on the basis of 

14 ATB false certification to submit a written request to the loan holder (the guaranty 

15 agency or Department), including a sworn factual statement. 34 C.F .R. § § 

16 682.402(e)(3)(ii) (FFEL program loans) and 685.215(c) (Direct Loans). 

17 24. The guaranty agencies and the Department must review discharge 

18 requests and other evidence submitted by the borrower "in light of the information 

19 available from the records of' the guaranty agency or the Secretary, whichever is 

20 applicable, "and from other sources, including other guaranty agencies, state 

21 authorities, and cognizant accrediting associations." 34 C.F.R. §§ 682.402(e)(6)(iv) 

22 (FFEL program loans) and 685.215(d)(3) (Direct Loans). 

23 25. The guaranty agencies and Department may also request that the 

24 borrower "provide ... other documentation reasonably available to [him or her] ... 

25 that demonstrates" the borrower's eligibility for loan discharge. 34 C.F.R. §§ 

26 682.402(e)(3)(vi) (FFEL program loans) and 685.215(c)(6)(i) (Direct Loans) 

6 
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1 (emph. added). 

2 26. If a guaranty agency or the Department determines that a borrower 

3 satisfies the requirements for an ATB false certification discharge, it is required to 

4 (a) discharge the borrower's obligation to pay existing or past loans falsely 

5 certified by the school, as well as any accrued charges and collection costs, (b) 

6 refund payments made by the borrower on the loans, and ( c) report the discharge to 

7 all consumer reporting agencies so as to delete all adverse credit history regarding 

8 the loans. 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c)(l); 34 C.F.R. §§ 682.402(e)(2) (FFEL program 

9 loans) and 685.215(b) (Direct Loans). 

10 27. The guaranty agency or Department must do the same for the portion 

11 of any Direct Consolidation Loan or FFEL program consolidation loan equal to the 

12 amount of the loans falsely certified by the school and included in the 

13 consolidation loan. 34 C.F.R. § 685.212(e) (Direct Loans); U.S. Dep't of Educ., 

14 Dear Colleague Letter 94-G-256 at 6 (Sept. 1994). 

15 28. There is no time limit on a borrower's eligibility for discharge. A 

16 borrower may submit an application at any time, including after a loan has been 

17 paid off. 34 C.F.R. §§ 682.402(e)(l)(i), (e)(6)(v) (FFEL program loans) and 

18 685.215(b)(l) (Direct Loans). 

19 The Corroborating Evidence Standard 

20 29. Despite the false certification abuses and oversight failures 

21 documented in the Nunn Report, the Department unilaterally imposed a 

22 "corroborating evidence" policy that requires the Department or guaranty agency 

23 to disregard a borrower's sworn statements, even if they are uncontroverted, unless 

24 the guaranty agency or Department obtains "finding[ s] [of ATB fraud] by an entity 

25 or organization that had oversight responsibility over the school's [Student 

26 Financial Aid] administration or educational programs." U.S. Dep't of Educ., Dear 

7 
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1 Colleague Letter, GEN 95-42 at 4 (Sept. 1, 1995). 

2 30. Under the Department's corroborating evidence policy, the "absence" 

3 of such evidence "raises an inference that no improper [ ATB] practices were 

4 reported because none were taking place." Id. In this case, the burden shifts to 

5 the borrower to provide "persuasive evidence that would corroborate his or her 

6 allegation of improper ATB determination." Id. 

7 31. In addition, in the absence of any A TB oversight findings, the 

8 Department allows a discharge to be granted based only on the following 

9 additional evidence: 

10 a. Statements of school employees or other students; 

11 b. "[A] high incidence" of other discharge applications and "no 

12 evidence of collusion" among the borrowers; 

13 c. Withdrawal rates exceeding 33% at the relevant time; or 

14 d. Annual loan default rates which are higher than a specified rate 

15 for the time period when the borrower entered repayment. For borrowers 

16 who entered repayment during or before federal fiscal year 1989, the annual 

17 loan default rate must exceed 60%. 

18 Id; U.S. Dep't of Educ., Dear Colleague Letter, DCL ID FP-07-09 at 2, 3 (Sept. 24, 

19 2007). 

20 32. Borrowers do not typically have access to findings of accrediting 

21 agencies, state agencies, and the federal government, statements by prior 

22 employees, or statements of other students. While borrowers may submit FOIA 

23 requests to obtain such evidence to the extent it is held by the Department, the 

24 Department does not always have such evidence, in part because it destroys old 

25 records of school program reviews, audits, and investigations. 

26 Ill 
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1 33. The Department also claims that it does not have school withdrawal 

2 rates and cannot provide copies of discharge applications and evidence possessed 

3 by guaranty agencies. The Department does not track the numbers and results of 

4 false certification discharge applications by school and for all guaranty agencies, 

5 and, to the extent it does, the Department does not make this information available 

6 to the public. 

7 34. In addition, although borrowers may submit false certification 

8 discharge applications at any time, the Department does not require schools, ATB 

9 testing agencies, guaranty agencies, state governments, or accrediting agencies to 

10 maintain student, school-related investigation, or false certification discharge 

11 records indefinitely. The Department has not ensured that student testing and 

12 school records are stored and available to students indefinitely, including after a 

13 school closes. Nor has it required that ATB testing agencies provide testing 

14 records to students upon request and without charge. As a result, many borrowers 

15 are unable to obtain evidence of ATB abuse findings by non-Department entities or 

16 evidence supporting their individual statements. 

17 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

18 35. Plaintiff Sonia Ramos Escobedo is currently 46 years old and resides 

19 in Hacienda Heights, County of Los Angeles. 

20 36. In August of 1988, Plaintiff, then 17 years of age, walked into the 

21 Long Beach campus of the Career Institute, Inc. (hereinafter, "the Career 

22 Institute"), a private for-profit institution of higher education. 

23 37. On that day, she met with a Career Institute recruitment officer to find 

24 out more about the school's computer learning program. 

25 38. Plaintiff had not earned a high school diploma or GED. In addition, 

26 the Career Institute knew that she was a minor, as the recruitment officer told 

9 
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1 plaintiff that her mother would be required to co-sign any loan documents for that 

2 reason. 

3 39. The Career Institute, however, never asked plaintiff whether she had a 

4 high school diploma or GED, nor did it have her take any type of test prior to 

5 enrollment to certify her ability to benefit from the educational program being 

6 offered. 

7 40. Plaintiff decided not to enroll at the Career Institute. She does not 

8 recall signing any loan documents, enrollment agreement, or any other documents. 

9 41. Plaintiff did not attend a single class and therefore never completed 

1 o any program of remedial or developmental education at the Career Institute. She 

11 also never earned a GED. 

12 42. Although Plaintiff never attended any classes nor recalls signing any 

13 loan documents, the Career Institute obtained a total of $5,312.00 in FFEL loan 

14 program loans in her name. 

15 43. By failing to administer an ATB test to plaintiff, the Career Institute 

16 falsely certified her eligibility for these federal student loans. 

17 44. The Career Institute was only in existence for about four years. It was 

18 opened on or about June 3, 1987 and closed on or about September 27, 1991. 

19 45. Because Plaintiff did not know about the existence of her FFEL 

20 program loans, Plaintiff defaulted on those loans in or around 198 9 and 1991. Her 

21 FFEL program loans were consolidated out of default in or about October 1999. 

22 46. Plaintiff could not afford her monthly payments on her Direct 

23 Consolidation Loan. As a result, she defaulted on this loan in or around 2010. 

24 Plaintiff then rehabilitated it out of default in 2011. 

25 4 7. Plaintiff subsequently re-defaulted on the Direct Consolidation Loan 

26 on or about September 27, 2013. According to Department records, as of 

10 
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1 November 2, 2017 Plaintiff owes $24,908.05 in unpaid principal and accrued 

2 interest on this Direct Consolidation Loan, plus an estimated $6,062.62 in alleged 

3 collection costs, for a total outstanding balance of $30,970.67. 

4 48. Plaintiff submitted a false certification discharge application on or 

5 about March 19, 2015. In her application, she attested to facts under penalty of 

6 perjury that established her eligibility for a discharge under 34 C.F.R. § 685.215. 

7 49. The Department issued a denial letter to Plaintiff on or about April 16, 

8 2015. The sole basis for the denial was that the Defendant did not possess any 

9 findings from a public or private oversight agency indicating any federal regulatory 

1 o violations by the Career Institute. The Department did not provide any reason for 

11 its disregard of her sworn statements, nor did it request that Plaintiff provide any 

12 additional evidence. 

13 50. On or about September 18, 2015, the Legal Aid Foundation of Los 

14 Angeles ("LAFLA") submitted a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to 

15 Defendant, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552, on Plaintiffs behalf. LAFLA requested 

16 records pertaining to the Career Institute, including records regarding ATB 

17 violations, loan default rates, withdrawal rates, and ATB applications submitted by 

18 other borrowers. On the same day, LAFLA also submitted a FOIA request for 

19 records pertaining to investigations and audits of the Career Institute to the 

20 Inspector General of the Department. 

21 51. In response, on October 20, 2015, the Inspector General provided a 

22 partially redacted single page printout and a letter stating that all other documents 

23 pertaining to the Career Institute in its possession had been destroyed. 

24 52. The single page provided by the Inspector General indicated that an 

25 investigative case had in fact been opened regarding the Career Institute on April 

26 22, 1991. This document indicates that the Career Institute was investigated for 

11 
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1 embezzlement of public money, fraud and bribery by recipients of federal funds, 

2 fraud and false statements, and student financial aid fraud. It further indicates that 

3 although the case was submitted for prosecution, it was later declined after the 

4 school closed. 

5 53. Subsequently, in a letter dated May 23, 2016, Defendant provided 

6 four pages of records pertaining to student loan default rates for the Career 

7 Institute. According to these records, 45.7% of Career Institute students who 

8 entered repayment in 1989 defaulted on their federal loans. The Department 

9 claimed that it does not have any other responsive documents, including 

1 o withdrawal rates for the Career Institute. 

11 54. On or about June 27, 2016, through counsel, Plaintiff submitted a 

12 second application for false certification student loan discharge. 

13 55. On October 20, 2016, Defendant upheld its initial denial of Plaintiffs 

14 false certification discharge application. It reiterated that the primary basis for the 

15 denial was the lack of "corroborating evidence of ATB violations at the school 

16 during Plaintiffs time of enrollment, such as program deficiencies, which would 

17 have become known during reviews and audits of the school." 

18 56. Defendant offered neither evidence nor analysis contradicting or 

19 disputing the statements provided under oath by Plaintiff in support of her 

20 discharge application. 

21 57. Plaintiff currently remains in default on her Direct Consolidation 

22 Loan. Federal law bars her from getting out of default, except through a lump sum 

23 payment of her entire loan balance, because she has previously rehabilitated and 

24 consolidated defaulted loans. 

25 58. Plaintiff received a Notice of Proposed Treasury Offset dated August 

26 17, 2017, which states the Department's intent to intercept Plaintiffs income tax 

12 
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1 refund to repay her defaulted federal loans under the Treasury Offset Program (the 

2 "TOP"). 

3 59. On October 13, 2017, Plaintiff submitted a timely objection and 

4 Request for Review to the proposed TOP offset on the grounds that Career Institute 

5 falsely certified her federal financial aid eligibility. Plaintiff provided the same 

6 evidence she submitted in support of her false certification discharge application, 

7 as well as additional evidence that she had not earned a high school diploma. 

8 60. In her Request for Review, Plaintiff also requested a telephonic 

9 hearing. 

10 61. Plaintiff received a letter from the Department dated November 2, 

11 2017, denying her objection to the TOP offset. 

12 62. The Department denied Plaintiffs objection on the grounds that it has 

13 already determined that she lacked sufficient evidence to prove that Career 

14 Institute had falsely certified her eligibility for federal financial aid. 

15 63. The Department also denied Plaintiffs request for a telephonic 

16 hearing. 

17 64. Plaintiffs 2017 federal income tax refund is therefore likely to be 

18 intercepted by the federal government, which would cause Plaintiff and her two 

19 grandchildren financial hardship. In addition, her wages could be garnished. 

20 65. Plaintiff has exhausted all of the administrative remedies available to 

21 her and has no other remedy at law to obtain Defendant's compliance with the 

22 HEA and the Department's student loan discharge regulations, other than through 

23 the relief sought in this complaint. 

24 II 

25 II 

26 II 
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1 FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706) 

3 66. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

4 fully set forth herein. 

5 67. Plaintiffs application for false certification student loan discharge, 

6 along with the evidence submitted with that application, satisfied the eligibility 

7 standards set forth in 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c) and 34 C.F.R. § 685.215 for discharge of 

8 her outstanding federal student loan. 

9 68. The denial of Plaintiffs application for false certification student loan 

10 discharge constitutes a final agency action, as defined by 5 U.S.C. § 704, and is 

11 therefore reviewable under the Administrative Procedure Act. 

12 69. Defendant's denial of Plaintiffs false certification discharge 

13 application was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and 

14 otherwise not in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-

15 1099d, and its implementing regulations, in violation of the Administrative 

16 Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

17 70. Plaintiff asks this court to declare that Defendant's denial of her 

18 application for false certification discharge was unlawful, arbitrary, capricious, an 

19 abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the 

20 Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-1099d, and its implementing 

21 regulations, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 

22 706(2)(A). 

23 71. Plaintiff further asks this court to reverse Defendant's denial ofher 

24 application for false certification discharge and compel Defendant to grant her 

25 application, pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 702 and 

26 706(1) and (2)(A). 
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1 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Pursuant to Administrative Procedure Act, 5 V.S.C. §§ 701-706) 

3 72. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

4 fully set forth herein. 

5 73. Defendant's denial of Plaintiffs objection to the proposed TOP offset 

6 constitutes a final agency action reviewable under the Administrative Procedure 

7 Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 

8 74. Defendant denied Plaintiff's objection to the proposed TOP offset 

9 without providing the telephonic hearing requested and required by Defendant's 

10 regulations. 

11 75. Defendant's denial of the TOP offset and its denial of Plaintiffs 

12 request for a telephonic hearing were unlawful, arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

13 discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher 

14 Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-1099d, and its implementing regulations, in 

15 violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

16 76. Plaintiff asks this court to reverse Defendant's denial of her objection 

17 to the proposed TOP offset pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 

18 §§ 702 and 706(1) and (2)(A). 

19 77. Plaintiff further asks this court to stay the Department's final decision 

20 denying Plaintiffs objection to the proposed TOP offset and to order the 

21 Department to refrain from submitting any agency creditor certification to the U.S. 

22 Department of the Treasury's Bureau of the Fiscal Service under 31 U.S. Code 

23 Section 3720A and 31 C.F.R. Sections 285.2(d) and 285.5(d)(6) or otherwise 

24 seeking to offset Plaintiffs federal income tax refund pending review by this Court 

25 pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 705. 

26 II 
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1 THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Pursuant to Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706) 

3 78. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

4 fully set forth herein. 

5 79. Defendant's reliance on its informal "corroborating evidence" policy, 

6 stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear Colleague letters, in denying Plaintiffs 

7 application for false certification discharge was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of 

8 discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher 

9 Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071, et seq. and its implementing regulations, in 

10 violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

11 80. Defendant asks this court to hold unlawful and declare that 

12 Defendant's reliance on its informal "corroborating evidence" standard stated in 

13 the 1995 and 2007 Dear Colleague letters, including the following, in denying 

14 Plaintiffs application for false certification discharge was arbitrary, capricious, an 

15 abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the 

16 Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-1099d, and its implementing 

17 regulations, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 

18 706(2)(A): 

19 a. Defendant's policy that the absence of oversight agency 

20 findings of improper ATB practices at a school "raises an inference that no 

21 improper ATB practices were reported because none were taking place" at 

22 the school; 

23 b. Defendant's policy that this inference may only be overcome 

24 with evidence of corroborating statements of employees or other students, a 

25 high incidence of ATB false certification discharge applications from other 

26 borrowers who attended the same school as long as there is no evidence of 
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1 collusion among them, the school's withdrawal rates exceeding 33% at the 

2 relevant time, or the annual loan default rate for the school exceeding a 

3 specified percentage when the borrower entered repayment, which is 60% 

4 for borrowers who entered repayment during or before federal fiscal year 

5 1989; and 

6 c. Defendant's policy of disregarding uncontroverted 

7 sworn statements of borrowers which establish their eligibility for 

8 false certification discharges despite the complete absence of evidence 

9 to question borrower credibility. 

10 FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

11 (Pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S. C. §§ 2201-2202) 

12 81. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs as if 

13 fully set forth herein. 

14 82. Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-

15 2202, that the Department's denial of ability-to-benefit false certification discharge 

16 applications, including Plaintiff's application, based on its "corroborating 

17 evidence" policy stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear Colleague letters, including the 

18 following, was and is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to law, 

19 and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 

20 1071-1099d, and its implementing regulations, in violation of the Administrative 

21 Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A): 

22 a. Defendant's policy that the absence of oversight agency 

23 findings of improper ATB practices at a school "raises an inference that no 

24 improper ATB practices were reported because none were taking place" at 

25 the school; 

26 II 
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1 b. Defendant's policy that this inference may only be overcome 

2 with evidence of corroborating statements of employees or other students, a 

3 high incidence of ATB false certification discharge applications from other 

4 borrowers who attended the same school as long as there is no evidence of 

5 collusion among them, the school's withdrawal rates exceeding 33% at the 

6 relevant time, or the annual loan default rate for the school exceeding a 

7 specified percentage when the borrower entered repayment; and 

8 c. Defendant's policy of disregarding uncontroverted sworn 

9 statements of borrowers which establish their eligibility for false 

1 o certification discharges despite the complete absence of evidence to question 

11 borrower credibility. 

12 83. For the reasons set forth in Paragraph 82, Plaintiff also seeks a 

13 declaratory judgment, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, that the Department is 

14 obligated to cease evaluating and/or denying ability-to-benefit false certification 

15 discharge applications based on its informal "corroborating evidence" policy as 

16 stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear Colleague letters. 

17 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

18 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter a 

19 judgment and order for relief as follows: 

20 1. Declaring that Defendant's denial of Plaintiffs false certification 

21 discharge application was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to 

22 law, and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 

23 1071-1099d, and its implementing regulations, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); 

24 2. Reversing the Department's final decision denying Plaintiff's 

25 objection to the proposed TOP offset pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); 

26 II 
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1 3. Staying the Department's final decision denying Plaintiffs objection 

2 to the proposed TOP offset and ordering the Department to refrain from submitting 

3 any agency creditor certification to the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Bureau 

4 of the Fiscal Service under 31 U.S. Code Section 3720A and 31 C.F.R. Sections 

5 285.2(d) and 285.5(d)(6) or otherwise seeking to offset Plaintiffs federal income 

6 tax refund pending review by this Court pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 705; 

7 4. Reversing the Department's final decision denying Plaintiffs false 

8 certification discharge application pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(2); 

9 5. Compelling the Secretary, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1), to: 

10 

11 Loan· 
' 

a. Cease collection efforts on Plaintiffs Direct Consolidation 

12 b. Discharge the liability on Plaintiffs Direct Consolidation 

13 Loan; and 

14 c. Grant Plaintiff all relief authorized by 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c)(l) 

15 and 34 C.F.R. § 685.215; 

16 6. Holding unlawful and declaring the Defendant's reliance on its 

17 informal "corroborating evidence" standard stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear 

18 Colleague letters, including the following, in denying Plaintiffs application for 

19 false certification discharge was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, 

20 contrary to law, and otherwise not in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 

21 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-1099d, and its implementing regulations, in violation of the 

22 Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A): 

23 a. Defendant's policy that the absence of oversight agency 

24 findings of improper ATB practices at a school "raises an inference that no 

25 improper ATB practices were reported because none were taking place" at 

26 the school; 

19 
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1 b. Defendant's policy that this inference may only be overcome 

2 with evidence of corroborating statements of employees or other students, a 

3 high incidence of ATB false certification discharge applications from other 

4 borrowers who attended the same school as long as there is no evidence of 

5 collusion among them, the school's withdrawal rates exceeding 33% at the 

6 relevant time, or the annual loan default rate for the school exceeding a 

7 specified percentage when the borrower entered repayment, which is 60% 

8 for borrowers who entered repayment during or before federal fiscal year 

9 1989; and 

10 c. Defendant's policy of disregarding uncontroverted sworn 

11 statements of borrowers which establish their eligibility for false 

12 certification discharges despite the complete absence of evidence to 

13 question borrower credibility; 

14 7. Declaring the Department's denial of ability-to-benefit false 

15 certification discharge applications based on its "corroborating evidence" standard 

16 stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear Colleague letters, including the following, is and 

17 was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, contrary to law, and otherwise not 

18 in accordance with the Higher Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1071-1099d, and its 

19 implementing regulations, in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 

20 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A): 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

a. Defendant's standard that the absence of oversight agency 

findings of improper ATB practices at a school "raises an inference that no 

improper ATB practices were reported because none were taking place" at 

the school; 

b. Defendant's standard that this inference may only be overcome 

with evidence of corroborating statements of employees or other students, a 
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1 high incidence of ATB false certification discharge applications from other 

2 borrowers who attended the same school as long as there is no evidence of 

3 collusion among them, the school's withdrawal rates exceeding 33% at the 

4 relevant time, or the annual loan default rate for the school exceeding a 

5 specified percentage when the borrower entered repayment; and 

6 c. Defendant's policy of disregarding uncontroverted sworn 

7 statements of borrowers which establish their eligibility for false 

8 certification discharges despite the complete absence of evidence to question 

9 borrower credibility; 

10 8. Declaring that the Department is obligated to cease evaluating and/or 

11 denying ability-to-benefit false certification discharge applications based on its 

12 informal "corroborating evidence" policy as stated in the 1995 and 2007 Dear 

13 Colleague letters; 

14 9. Ordering the Secretary to pay the cost of this action, together with 

15 reasonable attorneys' fees, pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 

16 2412(d)(l)(A), as determined by the Court; and 

17 10. Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

18 proper. 

19 

20 
DATED: November 20, 2017 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Andrew Kazakes 
Andrew Kazakes 
LEGAL AID FOUNDATION OF LOS ANGELES 
5228 Whittier Boulevard 
Los Angeles, CA 90022 
Telephone: (213) 640-3944 
Facsimile: (213) 640-3911 
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